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Committee for Health Inquiry on Access to Palliative Care Services 

Committee.Health@niassembly.gov.uk 

Dear Chair, 

Thank you once again for your interest and commitment to Palliative Care in Northern Ireland. 

As the Palliative Care Inquiry draws to a close, we appreciate the time you have taken to listen to 

specialists in the region.  As the Regional Palliative Medicine Group for Northern Ireland (RPMG), we 

are writing in response to the correspondence from the Minister for Health dated 10th June.  As you 

are aware, the Minister had written following your approach to the Department of Health (DoH) 

regarding the need for a ‘Northern Ireland Regional Last Days Care Bundle’ or ‘Individualised Care 

Plan’.  We feel it may be helpful to the Health Committee for us to provide some clear background 

and address some of the issues. 

The RPMG is composed of all the Palliative Medicine Consultants, Senior Registrars and Staff 

Grades from across Northern Ireland working to improve Palliative and End-of-Life services for our 

communities. We volunteer our time and expertise to write and review regional guidance and policy. 

We provide representation to the Clinical Engagement Group within the Palliative Care in Partnership 

(PCiP) structure. We are active nationally through our work with the Association for Palliative 

Medicine, the National Clinical Leads Group for Palliative Medicine and  Hospice UK. 

Following concerns regarding the Liverpool Care Pathway (LCP), the ‘More Care, Less 

Pathway’ independent review by Baroness Neuberger was published in 2013. The review made 

strong recommendations, including to phase out the LCP and replace it with ‘individualised end-of-life 

care plans’ to reduce the harm caused by the overmedicalisation of end-of-life care to patients and 

families. The review also recommended that the individualised care plan was to be monitored by the 

‘national audit for care at the end of life’ (NACEL) which NI has spuriously implemented giving us 

false reassurance of compliance. It is unclear why the DoH cherry picked which elements to 

implement.  

 

These individualised end-of-life care plans will improve care by providing clear guidance, 

clarifying senior clinician responsibilities and strengthening communication between staff, patients 

and families. They are strongly recommended by national guidance - NICE NG31 (2015). Their 

implementation coupled with associated training have helped in recognising dying, communicating 

clearly, and delivering symptom management at the end of life.  
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Unlike the rest of the UK, since 2013 the DoH has persistently ignored these recommendations 

and have failed, in our view, in giving any clear evidence why it believes that it knows better than the 

rest of the UK where individualised end-of-life care plans have been the norm for more than 10 years. 

 

In light of the over-medicalisation of normal dying that we have continued to observe causing real 

distress to patients, families and staff, we sought to encourage the DoH to reconsider its decision 

which contradicted the actions taken by their counterparts in the rest of the UK.  

1) Drawing on existing individualised end-of-life care plans being used across England (Appendix 1), 

we invested our own time and expense in developing a draft care plan for NI (Appendix 2) ready for 

iteration with clinical colleagues to create a definitive NI version 

2) We submitted this to the Clinical Engagement Group in December 2019 representing all 

multidisciplinary professions. 

3) With growing frustrating at the lack of a response and clear governance process within the PCiP, 

RPMG representatives met with the Chef and deputy Chief Medical Officer in February 2023. We 

were told that the CMO would take the lead on this issue directly from the PCiP.  

4) A response was received on 27th September 2023 (Appendix 3), stating that the true reason that the 

department had failed to take this forward was lack of money. The response also implied proper 

processes had not been followed and could be under the umbrella work on Advance Care 

Planning (ACP) and ReSPECT, both of which have also been created but failed to be 

implemented over the last 5 years.  

5) This decision was taken despite every NI Palliative Medicine Consultant and member of the 

Clinical Engagement Group being in favour of NI adopting individualised care planning 

documentation. 

 

The development and implementation of a Northern Ireland Regional Last Days Care Bundle or 

Individualised Care Plan in hospitals is an obvious gap in provision of palliative care in NI. The 

baseline Scoping Audit will not cover this gap or other documentation and resource gaps. This 

highlights once again the need for clinical leadership (such as a national clinical lead in palliative care 

as per all other nations absent in NI) in focusing work and effort on projects which will provide real 

benefit to the people of NI. 

We would appreciate your support in progressing this area work, and supporting us as clinicians 

to drive forward other aspects of Palliative Care to make a real and lasting difference to the care we 

would all want our loved ones to receive.   

Yours sincerely, 

 

 
Dr Alan McPherson, Chair of RPMG 

 

 
Dr Matthew Doré, Secretary 
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*On Behalf Of Diane Walker* 

 

DOH Response re. Individualised End of Life Care Plans 

 

Dear Clinical Engagement Group members 

 

Following recent discussion at the CEG meeting on 14 Sept a further request was made to DOH colleagues to provide an 

update on policy discussions with regards to a regional approach to Individualised End of Life Care Plans. The following 

response was received yesterday from John Millar at DOH and was subsequently discussed at the regional PCiP 

Programme Board meeting this morning:  

 

Received 27 September 2023:  

 

It is recognised that RPMG and CEG members are keen to see the introduction of regional, standardised individualised 

care plans and a briefing paper on this had been forwarded to the Department with an ask for a meeting with CMO and 

CNO to discuss.  

 

As you know RPMG also wrote separately on the matter to CMO requesting a meeting and this was held on 28 February. 

Whilst RPMG has met with CMO and DCMO, in line with the original ask from the briefing paper, it will also be important 

that the views of nursing and other policy colleagues are considered as part of this process. The matter remains subject 

to consideration in the Department.  

 

There has been no commitment or endorsement at this stage for any new arrangements. It will require a fuller 

assessment of whether this is needed and that will require wider discussion and consideration through proper process. 

Unfortunately, other priorities and resourcing pressures have impacted on this. 

 

Any proposals for individualised end of life care plans should be considered within the broad umbrella of Advance Care 

Planning and work coming out of that, for example the introduction of ReSPECT.  

 

As highlighted to RPMG colleagues in the response issued by Brendan Whittle and Aidan Dawson on 26 May, a number of 

key issues need to be considered to support any regional end of life care plan include governance, auditing, training and 

development, funding to support roll out etc. and the Department concurs with this. 

 

As you will be aware, the Department is in an extremely challenging financial position, and we are already looking 

critically at service delivery priorities. Within this context, it is unlikely that any additional money will be available to take 

forward new areas of work.  

 

In light of this response, the ‘Regional approach to Individualised End of Life Care Plans’ (Workstream #17) will remain as 

a workstream on the PCiP regional work plan but it will not be possible to allocate a timeline to it at this time.  

 

Kind regards 

Diane  

 

Diane Walker  

Palliative Care in Partnership Macmillan Programme Manager 

Tel: 028 9536 0152 

Mob: 07818 507191 

Email: diane.walker2@hscni.net 
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